RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN06-27-2017

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

NO. 2016AP2116-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Respondent,

v.

JAMES CHARLESTON

Defendant-Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Appeal From A Final Judgment of Conviction and Sentence Entered April 28, 2016, Kenosha County Circuit Court Case No. 2014CF149, The Honorable Mary K. Wagner, Presiding

James A. Walrath
State Bar No. 1012151
LAW OFFICES OF JAMES A. WALRATH, LLC.
324 East Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1410
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202
(414) 202-2300

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION4
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS
ARGUMENT
BECAUSE CHARLESTON'S REQUEST FOR DISPOSITION OF HIS WISCONSIN CHARGES STRICTLY AND SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLIED WITH THE INTERSTATE AGREEMENT ON DETAINERS IN WIS. STAT. § 976.05, BUT WAS IGNORED BY ILLINOIS OFFICIALS, THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISMISSED.
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases cited

State v Blackburn, 214 Wis. 2d 372, 571 N.W.2d 695 (Ct. App. 1997) 18, 19
State v. Eesley, 225 Wis.2d 248, 591 N.W.2d 846 (1999)
State v. Tarrant, 2009 WI App 121, 321 Wis. 2d 69, 772 N.W.2d 750
State v. Thomas, 2013 WI App 78, 348 Wis. 2d 699, 834 N.W.2d 425 16, 18, 20
State v. Whittemore, 166 Wis. 2d 127, 479 N.W. 2d 566 (Ct. App. 1991) 17, 18
United States v. Hutchins, 489 F. Supp. 710, 714-15 (N.D.Ind.1980) 19
United States v. Reed, 910 F.2d 621 (9th Cir. 1990)
United States v. Smith, 696 F. Supp. 1381 (D.Or.1988)
Rules, Statutes and Treatises Cited
Rules, Statutes and Treatises Cited ILCS 5/1-109
ILCS 5/1-109
ILCS 5/1-109
ILCS 5/1-109. 14 ILCS S. Ct. Rule 12(b)(4) 13 Mushlin, Michael B., RIGHTS OF PRISONERS, (3d. ed. 2002) 16
ILCS 5/1-109. 14 ILCS S. Ct. Rule 12(b)(4) 13 Mushlin, Michael B., RIGHTS OF PRISONERS, (3d. ed. 2002) 16 Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.22(2)(a) .4
ILCS 5/1-109. 14 ILCS S. Ct. Rule 12(b)(4) 13 Mushlin, Michael B., RIGHTS OF PRISONERS, (3d. ed. 2002) 16 Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.22(2)(a) .4 Wis. Stat. § Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.23(a) .4

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should the Wisconsin charges against Charleston have been dismissed because he was not transferred to Wisconsin for their timely disposition, and he had strictly and substantially complied with the prisoner-related requirements of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers (Wis. Stat. § 976.05) in his request for final disposition, which was ignored by the Illinois prison warden who held him in custody?

The circuit court ruled that the Wisconsin charges should not be affected by the inaction of the Illinois prison warden and denied a defense motion to dismiss.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case to the extent that appellant's arguments do not fall under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.22(2)(a); however, the briefs will likely fully develop the theories and legal authorities so that oral argument would be of marginal value.

Publication is appropriate under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.23(a)(1) and (2) because resolution of the issues will likely clarify existing rules and apply those rules to facts significantly different from those in published opinions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant James Charleston ("Charleston") was charged by a criminal

complaint filed February 6, 2014 with misdemeanor theft and a felony count of unauthorized use of an individual's personal identifying information or documents. (R. 1) Following Charleston's release on bond, he failed to appear for a scheduled court appearance and a bench warrant was issued for his arrest on April 24, 2014. (R.9) After determining that Charleston was in Illinois custody at that time, Wisconsin officials lodged a "Detainer/Extradition Request" with Illinois jail officials and alerted the Governor of Illinois that when Charleston was "ready for release" the Kenosha Sheriff should be notified. (R. 23).

The Kenosha Sheriff notified the Illinois Department of Corrections Southwestern Illinois Correctional Center, where Charleston then was in custody, on January 13, 2015, that he was a Wisconsin fugitive subject to the bench warrant. The Sheriff indicated that Wisconsin would want him extradited to face his Kenosha County charges. (R.23).

In August 2015 Kenosha officials received paperwork from Illinois prison officials that Charleston had requested a final disposition of his Kenosha case on August 12, 2015. After the District Attorney and Kenosha Circuit Court agreed to receive custody of Charleston, he was brought to the Kenosha County Jail in October 2015 (R. 11), where he appeared at several court appearances, resulting in his release on bond.

Private counsel was appointed to represent Charleston, who then lodged objections to the Circuit Court's jurisdiction and filed a motion to dismiss (R. 17) based on Charleston's having submitted a prior request for final disposition of the Kenosha charges to Illinois prison officials on November 14, 2014, although the request was not acted on by the Southwestern Illinois Correctional Center's warden (where Charleston was then in custody) and was not forwarded to the Kenosha County Sheriff, District Attorney, or Circuit Court. Charleston's objections and motion to dismiss cited the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act in Wis. Stat. § 976.05 requirement that an out-of-state prisoner who requests a final disposition should be brought to trial in Wisconsin within 180 days after making the request. Following a series of court proceedings where the issue was argued, the Kenosha County Circuit Court denied Charleston's motion to dismiss on March 24, 2016. (R. 43).

Subsequent negotiations between the State and the defense resulted in Charleston's entry of a guilty plea on April 28, 2016 to the misdemeanor theft charge, for which the court imposed a fine and costs. (R. 29, 45). Extensions of time to appeal were granted by this Court because of delays in transcript preparations, so that a notice of appeal was timely filed on October 27, 2016. Following the submissions of briefs on the question of whether Charleston's plea

had waived his right to appeal, this Court determined on April 26, 2017 that this appeal could proceed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Following issuance of the bench warrant, the Kenosha County Sheriff's Department issued a "Detainer/Extradition Request" on April 30, 2014 asking the Lake County, Illinois jail to detain Charleston, and stating "we will extradite," which was filed with the Kenosha District Attorney's Office on May 1, 2014. (R. 23). An extradition requisition letter was sent from the Wisconsin's Governor to Illinois' Governor on June 18, 2014 that requested that the Sheriff be notified '[w]hen the defendant is ready for release." The next communication from Wisconsin to Illinois officials did not occur until January 13, 2015 when the Sheriff directed a fax to the records office of the Southwestern Illinois Corrections Center, stating that Charleston was a fugitive subject to the Department's warrants for extradition "back to Wisconsin." (R.23).

But in the meantime, according to Exhibit 1 to the February 9, 2016 defense motion to dismiss and affidavit (A. App. 107-109), Charleston had filled out a preprinted form titled "Request Demand for Final Disposition on Interstate Detainer" on November 14, 2014, with handwritten text that it was directed to "Warden Jeff

-

¹ A collection of detainer and extradition documents was filed with Circuit Court by the District Attorney's Office on February 25, 2016 as unmarked, unnumbered, and unverified attachments to the "State's Response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss" (R. 23). Because the response attachments do not bear exhibit marks or consecutive page numbering, and there is a page length discrepancy between the 70 pages that appellant's counsel received from the clerk's office and the record index reference to R.23 as 59 pages, the appeal record references here cannot be more specific..

Parker." The handwritten text also identified: the two charges pending against him by descriptive title ("Theft-Movable Property" and "Misappropriate ID Info"); the Kenosha District Attorney's internal office system case number; the Kenosha Circuit Court case number; and Kenosha County as the jurisdiction where the charges were pending. The document was dated November 14, 2014 and it was signed by Charleston, with his signature notarized that same date by a State of Illinois Notary Public, Russell D. Huelsmann, who also signed and affixed a notary seal stamp. (A. App. 110).

Charleston also signed a preprinted form "Certificate of Service," marked as Exhibit 2 to the defense motion (A. App. 111), in which he certified that on November 14, 2014 he "served the attached Request to Process Demand Under Interstate Agreement of Detainers on Warden Jeff Parker, 950 Kings Highway, P.O. Box 129, E. St. Louis, Illinois 62203 by placing the same, addressed to the Warden as here indicated, into the box designated for U.S. Mail (including intra-institutional mail) at Southwestern IL Correctional Center." The certificate asserted that it complied with the Illinois Code of Civil Procedure, 735 ILCS 5/1-109 and was subject to its penalties.

No Illinois or Wisconsin extradition actions were undertaken in conjunction with Charleston's request.

Rather, the same two preprinted forms that Charleston had completed in November 2014, later appeared as attachments to an August 14, 2015 letter from the Illinois prison warden at Graham Correctional Center, directed to the Kenosha District Attorney (R. 23), and stated that Charleston had made a trial request and that procedures should be instituted to transfer custody in response to the Kenosha County warrant. Although the preprinted forms were the same as those that Charleston had previously used, the handwritten content was slightly different: the request for final disposition was dated August 12, 2015, and referenced a different warden at a Illinois different correctional center, and Charleston's signature was notarized by a different notary public. Otherwise, the handwritten information identifying Charleston, the type of pending charges, the district attorney office case number and the circuit court case number, were the same as Exhibit 1. Likewise, the certificate of service was the same, except that it described that service on the different warden occurred at the different institution on August 12, 2015.

Following Charleston's transfer in October 2015 (R. 11) to Kenosha County, his counsel brought his November 2014 request for disposition to the court's attention on December 8, 2015 (R. 41, p. 2), and February 9, 2016 (R. 42, p. 2). At a March 24, 2016 motion to dismiss hearing (R. 43), the court indicated that it did not doubt that Charleston had in fact served the warden with his trial disposition

request on November 14, 2014. but it questioned whether the warden had sent anything about that request to the court. (R. 43, p. 2; A. App. 102). The court agreed with defense counsel that Illinois did not take "appropriate action to notify Wisconsin" of Charleston's request. But it concluded that it would not "hold the State of Wisconsin responsible for the inaction of the State of Illinois's warden." (R. 43, p. 3; A. App. 103). The court's thinking shifted a bit thereafter when it stated:

We don't have anything marked on it or indicating on it that it ever got to the warden. . . [W]e don't have any indication that the warden failed to act on it. Presumably, he did. I don't know. But it shows that he tried to do something. Unfortunately, it didn't work."

(R. 43, p. 4; A. App. 104). The court then questioned the import of the certificate of service (Exhibit 2): "You know, in order to sign an affidavit of service, you have to hand it to somebody and, you know, see yourself give it to him. So I don't think that's a violation." (R. 43, p. 5; A. App. 105).

ARGUMENT

BECAUSE CHARLESTON'S REQUEST FOR DISPOSITION STRICTLY AND SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLIED WIS. STAT. § 976.05, THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISMISSED.

At first the circuit court was convinced that Charleston had in fact served the Illinois warden who held him in custody: "I don't doubt that he gave on November 14th, or thereabout, a request for detainer to the warden of the prison he

was in." (R. 43, p. 2; A. App. 102) In that regard the court found that Charleston had strictly complied with the only procedural requirement that Wis. Stat. § 976.05 imposes on a prisoner who wishes to assert his right to gain a speedy trial or disposition of charges pending in another jurisdiction. The only step required of the prisoner in the transfer process is that he or she make a request of the custodian for a transfer. This is described as the prisoner's "request for final disposition." The prisoner's obligation to prepare and submit that request for final disposition is embodied in Wis. Stat. § 976.05(3)(b), which provides in pertinent part: "The written notice and request for final disposition referred to in par. (a) shall be given or sent by the prisoner to the department, or warden, or other official having custody of the prisoner..."

After the request for final disposition has been "given or sent" to the prisoner's custodial official, all other steps in the transfer process must be taken by that custodian, and then by other prosecutorial and court officials. Under Wis. Stat. § 976.05(3)(b), once the prisoner's request for final disposition is given or is sent, the custodian must take the second step and "promptly forward it together with the certificate to the appropriate prosecuting official and court by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested." The "certificate" that the custodian is required to transmit is described in § 976.05(3)(a): "The request of the prisoner

shall be accompanied by a certificate of the appropriate official having custody of the prisoner, stating the term of commitment under which the prisoner is being held, the time already served, the time remaining to be served on the sentence, the amount of good time earned, the time of parole eligibility or date of release to extended supervision of the prisoner and any decisions of the department relating to the prisoner."

Under normal circumstances, when both the prisoner and his custodian have met those requirements, the prisoner, according to Wis. Stat. § 976.05(3)(a), "has caused to be delivered to the prosecuting officer and the appropriate court of the prosecuting officer's jurisdiction written notice of the place of his or her imprisonment and his or her request for a final disposition to be made of the indictment, information or complaint." At that point Wis. Stat. § 976.05(3)(a) states that "the prisoner shall be brought to trial within 180 days."

To the extent that the circuit court strayed from its initial finding that Charleston had complied with his obligation of serving the warden with the formal request for final disposition, the court veered off course into rank speculation. For one, Charleston did everything that was required of him when he completed the form that a prisoner is required to complete under the Act. Further, his form was unquestionably notarized by an official notary public. Indeed, the official notary

public status of Russell D. Huelsmann is publicly posted at the Illinois Secretary of State's website.² The fact that Charleston completed the formality of having the request document properly completed and had it notarized, at minimum, supports a reasonable inference that he also took steps to convey it to the warden. At any rate, those facts counter any speculations, later stated by the circuit court, that Charleston might have given the completed form to someone other than the warden, such as the notary.

Charleston's certificate of service also undermined the court's remaining reservations as to whether service was effected. That is because Charleston's certificate of service stated that he followed, to the letter, the procedures dictated by the Illinois law governing service of process by state prisoners who are proceeding *pro se*. ILCS S. Ct. Rule 12 (b)(4) states: "Service is proved: . . (4) in case of service by mail by a pro se petitioner from a correctional institution, by certification . . ., of the person who deposited the document in the institutional mail, stating the time and place of deposit and the complete address to which the document was so delivered." (Emphasis added.) Charleston's certificate did just

_

Procedure, the undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this instrument are true and correct,

² Huelsmann 's notary public status number is 734261, and he was last issued a commission as notary public on March 10, 2014.See, http://www.ilsos.gov/notary/notary, last accessed on June 22, 2017.

³ Rule 12 states that the form of the certification of service is governed by ILCS 5/1-109, which provides in pertinent part: "The person or persons having knowledge of the matters stated in a pleading, affidavit or other document certified in accordance with this Section shall subscribe to a certification in substantially the following form: Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the Code of Civil

that. Accordingly, by following Illinois mandates governing of documents by incarcerated *pro se* petitioners, Charleston proved that he served the warden, as a matter of law, by placing the request in the institutional mail system.

With those preliminary considerations now disposed of, the main issues for this appeal are: did Charleston strictly comply with the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 976.05, so that the Wisconsin charges should have been dismissed because Illinois and Wisconsin officials did not meet their obligations to trigger the 180-day disposition requirement? If Charleston did not show there was strict compliance with the requirements of the statute, should the Wisconsin charges have been dismissed nonetheless, because he substantially complied, even though the Illinois warden failed to notify Wisconsin of Charleston's request?

Because Exhibit 1 showed that Charleston properly completed and signed the preprinted request for disposition form, had it notarized, and Exhibit 2 showed that he deposited his request in the prison mail system, thereby establishing proof of service under the dictates of Illinois law for *pro se* petitioners, and because those facts were not rebutted by the State, Charleston strictly complied with the requirement of Wis. Stat. § 976.05. The circuit court agreed: "I don't doubt that he

except as to matters therein stated to be on information and belief and as to such matters the undersigned certifies as aforesaid that he verily believes the same to be true. Any pleading, affidavit or other document certified in accordance with this Section may be used in the same manner and with the same force and effect as though subscribed and sworn to under oath. (Emphasis added.)

gave on November 14th, or thereabout, a request for detainer to the warden of the prison he was in." (R. 43, p. 2; A. App. 102). The Wisconsin Supreme Court described the effect of a prisoner's strict compliance in *State v. Eesley*, 225 Wis.2d 248, 254–58, 591 N.W.2d 846 (1999), as follows:

Generally, Article III, § 976.05(3) . . . provides procedures whereby a prisoner against whom a detainer has been lodged, can demand a speedy disposition of the charges. . . . When a detainer is filed against a prisoner, the warden must promptly inform the prisoner of such detainer and of his or her right to demand disposition. § 976.05(3)(c). If the prisoner makes such a request, the trial must commence within 180 days of the request. § 976.05(3)(a). If the receiving state fails to have a trial on the outstanding indictment, information or complaint within the prescribed time period and before the prisoner is transported back to the original place of imprisonment, the court is required to dismiss such charges with prejudice. § 976.05(3)(d).

(Emphasis added.) This court similarly described the effect of a prisoner's strict compliance with the request for disposition procedure in *State v. Tarrant*, 2009 WI App 121, ¶ 22, 321 Wis.2d 69, 82-83, 772 N.W.2d 750: "Once a prisoner has properly requested a prompt and final disposition of pending criminal charges, the only way the State can avoid its obligation to bring the prisoner to trial within 180 days of the request is to dismiss the untried complaint or information." Indeed, this court directed that the charges and conviction against Tarrant be dismissed "because he was not brought to trial within 180 days of his demand for a prompt and final disposition." *Id.* at ¶20, 321 Wis.2d at 82.

The remedy of dismissal is mandated because the prisoner has done

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