RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT II

08-28-2017

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

CASE NO. 2016AP2116 - CR

State of Wisconsin,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

Case No. 2014CF000149
(Kenosha County)

v.

James Charleston,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE
ENTERED IN THE KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE MARY K. WAGNER, PRESIDING

RESPONDENT BRIEF

BY:

LARA PARKER
SPECIAL PROSECUTOR
STATE BAR NO. 1093342
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY
912 56th Street
Kenosha, WI 53140
(262) 653-2400
lara.parker@da.wi.gov

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

III. ARGUMENT

BECAUSE THE STATE OF WISCONSIN COMPLIED WITH THE INTERSTATE AGREEMENT ON DETAINERS ACT IN WIS. STAT. § 976.05, CHARLESTON'S CONVICTION SHOULD BE UPHELD

INTRODUCTION

Charleston asserts in his appeal, and in the motion to dismiss heard on March 24, 2016, that the 180-day time limit began running on November 14, 2014 when he initially served his written request for disposition to the warden. Charleston argues that the criminal complaint should have

been dismissed since over 180 days had lapsed, and he strictly or substantially complied with the prisoner-related requirements of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act in Wis. Stat. § 976.05(3).

Charleston's motion to dismiss was denied by Judge Mary K. Wagner after hearing arguments. The court agreed that the State of Illinois did not take "appropriate action to notify Wisconsin" of Charleston's request for disposition; but it properly concluded that it would not "hold the State of Wisconsin responsible for the inaction of the State of Illinois' warden" (S. App. 103: 5-7, 19-21).

Further, the court properly found that the case had extended beyond the 180-day time limit because of the defendant's own delays in the case. (See S. App. 105, 107).

PURPOSE

The purpose of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act (IAD), as codified in Wis. Stat. § 976.05, is 1) to protect prisoners by encouraging orderly and expeditious disposition of charges against a prisoner and determining the proper status of all detainees based on untried complaints, indictments, or informations, and 2) to provide "cooperative procedures" to effectuate a "more uniform and

efficient system of interstate renditions.” *State v. Miller*, 261 Wis. 2d 866, 661 N.W. 2d 466 (Wis. Ct. App. 2003).

One of the protections offered by the IAD is dismissal of the receiving state’s charges with prejudice. The IAD statute lists three situations when dismissal is an appropriate remedy: 1) if the prisoner requests final disposition under Article III and there is not a trial within 180 days (Wis. Stat. § 976.05(3)(d)); or 2) if the receiving state requests temporary custody under Article IV and there is no trial within 120 days of the prisoner’s arrival (Wis. Stat. § 976.05(4)(e)); or 3) if the appropriate receiving authority refuses or fails to accept temporary custody of a prisoner (Wis. Stat. § 976.05(5)(c)).

Wisconsin’s IAD requires that a defendant be “brought to trial within 180 days after the prisoner has *caused to be delivered* to the prosecuting officer and the appropriate court of the prosecuting officer’s jurisdiction written notice of the place of his or her imprisonment and his or her request for a final disposition to be made of the indictment, information or complaint.” Wis. Stat. § 976.05(3)(a) (emphasis added).

- 1) **Receipt of the request for detainer by the State's prosecutor triggers the start of the 180-day period in which a court must bring a prisoner to final disposition according to the Interstate Agreement on Detainers.**

Wisconsin interprets the 180-day time-limit set by the IAD as beginning on the date the demanding state's prosecuting authorities receive the prisoner's request for final disposition. *State v. Whittemore*, 166 Wis. 2d 127, 479 N.W. 2d 566 (Wis. Ct. App. 1991). The court in *Whittemore* looked to caselaw in other IAD states and concluded that the phrase "'cause to be delivered' was equivalent to 'has delivered.'" *Id.* at 133 (citation omitted).

The United States Supreme Court has held the same: "that the receiving state's receipt of the request starts the clock." *Fex v. Michigan*, 507 U.S. 43, 113 S. Ct. 1085, 122 L. Ed. 2d 406 (1993). The Court conducted an in-depth analysis of contextual clues and the text of Article III, codified by Wisconsin at Wis. Stat. § 976.05(3), to determine whether the 180 days begin when the request for final disposition is delivered to the warden by the prisoner, or when the request is delivered to the prosecuting state. *Id.* at 47-52.

In *Fex v. Michigan*, the Court agreed with the State's position that it is *self-evident* "no one can have 'caused

something to be delivered' unless delivery in fact occurs." *Id.* at 47. Correspondingly, the Court rejected the argument that a prisoner's transmittal of an IAD request to prison authorities starts the 180-day period. *Id.* at 47-48. The Court observes, "nothing in law or logic suggests that it must be when he placed the request in the hands of the warden." *Id.* at 49. If the warden's receipt started the 180-day clock and "through the negligence of the warden, a prisoner's IAD request is delivered to the prosecutor more than 180 days after it was transmitted to the warden, the prosecution will be precluded before the prosecutor even knows it has been requested." *Id.* at 50.

The *Fex v. Michigan* Court considered such worst-case possibilities as "a warden, through negligence or even malice, can delay forwarding of the request and thus postpone the starting of the 180-day clock" or "the request gets lost in the mail and is never delivered to the 'receiving' state." *Id.* at 48, 49. The Court concluded that the prisoner may spend several hundred additional days under detainer, which may disqualify him from certain programs or create other disadvantages, but that is "no worse than what regularly occurred before the IAD was adopted." *Id.* at 50.

Furthermore, those disadvantages cannot be entirely avoided if transmittal to the warden is the measuring event. *Id.* A careless or malicious warden “may be unable to *delay* commencement of the 180-day period, but can *prevent it entirely*, by simply failing to forward the request.” *Id.* at 50 (emphasis in original). That interpretation “assumes the availability of a reading that would give effect to a request that is never delivered at *all.*” *Id.* at 52 (emphasis in original). Therefore, “[i]t is more reasonable to think that the receiving State’s prosecutors are in no risk of losing their case until they have been *informed* of the request for trial.” *Id.* at 51 (emphasis in original).

In this case, Charleston asserts that he complied with the prisoner-related requirements of the IAD in his request for final disposition when he properly completed and served paperwork on November 14, 2014. Therefore, the case 180-day clock should have started on November 14, 2014 when he served his request to the Illinois prison warden.

As the *Whittemore* and *Fex* courts have held, the 180-day time limit commences running on the date the district attorney of the demanding state *receives notice* of the prisoner’s request for final disposition. (See *Whittemore*,

166 Wis. 2d 127, and *Fex*, 507 U.S. 43.) Only after Charleston's second request was served to the Illinois prison warden on August 12, 2015, the District Attorney's Office of Kenosha County received Charleston's request on August 20, 2015. At that point, the 180-day time limit began.

Finally, Charleston does not offer proof that Wisconsin received his first request for final disposition which was dated November 14, 2014. And it is the general rule that "a prisoner who alleges a violation of the IAD bears the burden of establishing that the notice required under Article III(a) was given." *Whittemore*, 166 Wis. 2d at 135. Since Charleston did not establish that Wisconsin received notice of the first disposition request, he did not establish a violation by Wisconsin. The only notice received by the Kenosha County District Attorney's Office was on August 20, 2015, when the 180-day time limit began.

2) No remedy is available to a prisoner requesting speedy disposition when a custodial state violates provisions of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers.

At least one Wisconsin case examines a factual situation similar to Charleston's and resolves this question: When a custodial state violates provisions of

the IAD, what effect does this have on a prisoner requesting speedy disposition? See *State v. Townsend*, 295 Wis. 2d 844, 722 N.W. 2d 753 (Wis. Ct. App 2006).

Townsend discusses the custodial state's notice requirements within Wis. Stat. 976.05(3); and, in this case, Charleston is alleging a violation of the IAD because custodial state *did not properly forward* his first detainer request. But in both *Townsend* and this current matter, the petitioners agree that Illinois violated the IAD.

In *Townsend*, the State of Illinois violated the IAD because they did not inform the prisoner of the specific charges against him, which state lodged a detainer, or the procedures to request a final disposition of his charges in Wisconsin. See *id.* at 754-57. Petitioner Townsend argued that because of the notice violations, he was denied a prompt disposition in Wisconsin and the Wisconsin charges must be dismissed. *Id.* The court concluded that the problem was Illinois' failure to comply with the IAD. *Id.* at 757. So it asked the question: "given the IAD violation by the State of Illinois, was dismissal of the Wisconsin charge against Townsend the remedy?" *Id.* at 756.

The *Townsend* court commiserated with appellant Townsend, stating “[w]e understand the appellant’s frustration with the Illinois prison system’s ineptness that led to a clear violation of the IAD,” and “any violation that did occur was due to the total disarray of the Illinois prison system.” *Id.* at 758.

However, the *Townsend* court held that any violations of the IAD were the fault of Illinois, not Wisconsin. *Id.* The court also listed the only three (3) situations where dismissal is an appropriate remedy for IAD violations under Wis. Stat. § 976.05 (“Purpose” section above) none of which apply when a custodial state fails to meet the requirements of the IAD. *See generally, Townsend.* Therefore, the court believes “the extreme remedy of dismissing the *Wisconsin* charge against Townsend, which is not specifically mandated by the IAD, is not appropriate.” *Townsend*, 295 Wis. 2d at 758 (emphasis in original). The court further explained that “it would be contrary to public policy to permit Townsend to escape prosecution on the crime he committed in Wisconsin.” *Id.*

Only one of the three specific situations when dismissal is appropriate under the IAD could possibly apply to Charleston’s case, and that is if the prisoner requests final disposition under Article III and there is

not a trial within 180 days (see Wis. Stat. § 976.05(3)(d)). However, as concluded above, the 180-day time limit did not begin until on August 20, 2015, when the Kenosha District Attorney's office received Charleston's second request for disposition. And the failure of the Illinois prison warden to deliver the first request to Wisconsin's prosecuting authorities was Illinois' fault, not Wisconsin's fault. This seems to be an agreed-upon fact within Charleston's appellate brief; also, this Circuit Court found that Illinois failed to take appropriate action to notify Wisconsin according to the IAD's requirements (Pet'r's Br. 6; S. App. 103: 5-9). Wisconsin, in all other ways, complied with the IAD as set forth in Wis. Stat. § 976.05.

Therefore, like in *Townsend*, the custodial state of Illinois did not properly follow the IAD when Charleston requested disposition in Wisconsin. Because there is no specific remedy provided by Wis. Stat. § 976.05 when a custodial state violates the provisions in the IAD, it would be contrary to public policy to allow the extreme remedy of dismissal of the charges against Charleston.

- 3) **Charleston is not owed a remedy for substantially complying with the prisoner-related requirements within the Interstate Agreement on Detainer when**

the custodial state violated the IAD's provisions.

Further, Charleston argues that he strictly and/or substantially complied with the prisoner-related requirements of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act in Wis. Stat. § 976.05. Within Charleston's appellate brief, it is asserted that he did everything required of him when he completed the form, had it notarized, and served it to the prison warden. Charleston argues that the "remedy of dismissal is mandated because the prisoner has done everything required of him by law, and everything within his control, to achieve a prompt disposition." (Pet'r's Br. 16-17).

The Court stated that "[t]he substantial compliance doctrine applies when a *defendant fails to meet the technical requirements* of the IAD due to intentional or negligent sabotage by government officials." *State v. Thomas*, 348 Wis. 2d 699, 834 N.W. 2d 425 (Wis. Ct. App. 2013), referencing *State v. Blackburn*, 214 Wis. 2d 372, 571 N.W. 2d 695 (Wis. Ct. App. 1977) (emphasis added). In Charleston's case, he does not allege that custodial government officials intentionally or negligently sabotaged *Charleston's own ability* to meet the technical requirements of the IAD. He alleges, instead, that the

Illinois' *government officials themselves* did not meet the statutory requirements of delivering the request to Wisconsin.

Rejecting this substantial compliance argument is "consistent with the legislative intent behind the purpose of Wis. Stat. 976.05(3)(a), which is to allow the prosecutor 'to give the matter prompt and proper attention and bring the prisoner to trial on any criminal charges lodged against him or her.'" *Thomas*, 348 Wis. 2d at 710-11. In order to give the matter prompt and proper attention, the State must receive actual notice of the prisoner's request – and in Charleston's case, Wisconsin did eventually receive notice on August 20, 2015.

Therefore, Charleston's substantial compliance alone in November 2014 does not warrant dismissal of this case because Wisconsin never received notice; and dismissal is not an available remedy until the State's prosecution is notified of the request for disposition.

4) Dismissal is not an appropriate or available remedy for Charleston, by neither statute, caselaw, nor public policy.

Charleston argues that he was subjected to "detrimental effects of the pending charges," such as adverse psychological impact, deprivation of an opportunity

to obtain a concurrent sentence, ineligibility for assignments, trustee status, or programs, etc. (Pet'r's Br. 17).

The United States Supreme Court addresses prisoners' arguments regarding the "detrimental effects" of a custodial state's inaction, which seem nearly identical to Charleston's argument here. In *Fex v. Michigan*, the petitioner "makes the policy argument that '[f]airness requires the burden of compliance with the requirements of the IAD to be placed entirely on law enforcement officials involved, since the petitioner has little ability to enforce compliance' . . . and that any other approach would 'frustrate the higher purpose' of the IAD, leaving 'neither a legal nor practical limit on the length of time prison authorities could delay forwarding a request.'" *Fex*, 507 U.S. at 52 (citations omitted).

In a similar discussion on public policy, Wisconsin has upheld the Supreme Court's reasoning within *Thomas*, stating that "[a] delay of trial is a far better public policy than an outright dismissal of charges." *Thomas*, 348 Wis. 2d at 710, referencing *Fex*, 507 U.S. at 50-51. Further, the court states that "[t]he purpose of the IAD is to prompt prosecutors to bring defendants to trial, which a prosecutor cannot do until he or she actually

receives notice of the speedy trial request.” *Thomas*, 348 Wis. 2d at 710-11. Since the penalty for not honoring a defendant’s rights to a speedy disposition under the IAD is high – dismissal with prejudice – the penalty “should not be imposed unless it is clear that the state was aware that a defendant was requesting to exercise his right to a speedy trial.” *Id.* at 710.

In Charleston’s case, the State’s 180-day time limit may only begin upon actual notice of the request for disposition to Wisconsin’s prosecuting authorities; therefore, the time limit did not commence until August 20, 2015. Additionally, there is no statutory remedy provided when the custodial state (Illinois) does not act upon a prisoner’s request for speedy disposition in another state. And according to the United States Supreme Court and Wisconsin caselaw, it is contrary to public policy to allow dismissal of a complaint unless the issuing state has actual notice of a defendant’s request for disposition.

If Charleston is owed a remedy for the delay caused by the inaction of Illinois’ custodial officials, this respondent does not know what it is. He may wish to seek more information from the State of Illinois about any available remedies. Otherwise, the United States Supreme Court suggests that arguments of ‘fairness’ and ‘higher

purpose' are more appropriately addressed "to the legislatures of the contracting States, which adopted the IAD's text." *Fex*, 507 U.S. at 52.

5) Charleston's conduct and consent waived his available time limits.

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